# **DISABILITY IN OLD AGE**

# Final Report Conclusions and Recommendations

# **Burden of Disease Network Project**

The Finnish Centre for Interdisciplinary Gerontology
University of Jyväskylä Finland

Jyväskylä University Press 2004

This report has been produced by the Burden of Disease in Old Age (BURDIS) network project carried out within Key Action 6 'The Ageing Population and Their Disabilities' of the European Union's Quality of Life and Management of Living Resources programme and has been funded by the European Commission. The content of the report does not represent the opinion of the European Community and the Community is not responsible for any use that might be made of the information presented in the text.

#### **Preface**

The Burden of Disease in Old Age (BURDIS) network project was set up with financial support from the European Commission in March 2001. The project has brought together recognised expertise in ageing research with the main aim of better exploiting existing data resources and exploring gaps in the understanding of the disablement process.

The network has addressed these issues from four different perspectives, viz. the physiological and psychological changes associated with increased vulnerability to disability, hereditary vs. environmental factors in the disablement process, gender differences in the disablement process and the life-span perspective on disablement, focusing on early modifiable predictors and mortality.

Several working methods were used to address these issues. The project steering committee met regularly twice a year to manage and guide project work and to discuss the relevant scientific issues. Annual meetings were held to bring together scientists both within the project and outside it working in the four domains to discuss the most recent developments in disability research. In the first phase of the project, areas in which knowledge was sparse or lacking were identified, following which studies were conducted and the results written up in articles for publication in scientific journals. These studies also included researcher exchanges which facilitated the making of crosscentre comparative studies. This report presents the results of this project work and makes recommendations for good practice. It also includes an evaluation of the need for a new cross-national study. Project work has been coordinated from the Finnish Centre for Interdisciplinary Gerontology in Jyväskylä, Finland. Professor Eino Heikkinen has led the project work as the principal coordinator with Mr. Timo Törmäkangas working as the coordinator assistant.

In the writing of this document both existing recent knowledge and results from new studies carried out within the BURDIS network have been used. Experts in multiple areas of disability research have participated in preparing this report, which has primarily been written by Professor Eino Heikkinen, Professor Shah Ebrahim, Dr. Luigi Ferrucci,

Dr. Jack M. Guralnik, Dr. Taina Rantanen and Professor Marianne Schroll. The drafts of

the different sections of this report have been reviewed by various participating

researchers within the network. In addition, Professor Stig Berg, Associate Professor

Kirsten Avlund, Associate Professor Bo Malmberg and Dr. David Melzer have offered

comments and advice in the preparation of this report. Technical editing of the report was

done by Mr. Timo Törmäkangas. The project has also heard the reactions and comments

of stakeholder organisations, including Age (The European Older People's Platform,

Stockholm, Sweden), AgeConcern (Britain), the Jyväskylä City Health Centre (Finland),

the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (Finland) and STAKES (National Research and

Development Centre for Welfare and Health, Finland). We are thankful for their helpful

comments and suggestions. We also thank the WHO, Ageing and Life Course, for their

cooperation in making this report. Finally, we thank Mr. Michael Freeman for checking

the language of the report.

The participants in this project hope that this report will be seen as a valuable

source of recommendations and suggestions for use in the formulation of research and

practical policies regarding disability in old age. The recommendations may be of interest

to governmental and voluntary health organisations, and to policy-makers as well as

elderly individuals.

For further information visit the project website at:

http://www.jyu.fi/BURDIS

ii

# **Contents**

Summary	1
Introduction	6
The concepts and scope of the report	6
Prevalence of disabilities in old age	
Risk factors of disability in old age	8
Consequences of disability in old age	9
Prevention of disability in old age	10
Predictors of function and disability in old age	11
Diseases and depressiveness as predictors of disability	11
Functional limitations	
Physiologic predictors of functional limitations	12
Genetic factors and functional limitations	14
Behavioural predictors of functional limitations and disability	14
Psychological predictors of disability	16
Gender differences in disability	
Environmental predictors of disability	18
Disability prevention interventions and research	20
Need for trials on disability prevention	20
Development of trials for disability prevention	22
Development of services	25
Geriatric interventions	25
Comprehensive geriatric assessment	25
Preventive Home Visits	26
Screening	26
Home care	27
Management of chronic diseases	27
Geriatric evaluation and management units	28
Appropriate medication	28
Counselling	29
Creating accessible environments	30
Policy options	32
Research policy options	
Practice policy options	
Implementing policies	36
D a farances	30

# Summary

#### DISABILITY IN OLD AGE

#### Scope and purpose

The increase in the number of old people is presumably also increasing the number of old people with disabilities, as any possible compression of morbidity would be too small to offset the effect of the rising numbers of older people in European populations. Disability increases the risk for need of home help, hospitalization, nursing home admission and premature death. In addition the economic burden presented to society by disability is great. There is, therefore, an urgent need for effective intervention programmes for disability prevention, which has become an important public health concern.

The Burden of Disease in Old Age (BURDIS) network project was set up with financial support from the European Commission in 2001 for a three-year period. The project brought together recognized expertise in ageing research with the aims of better exploiting existing data resources to study the risk factors for disability in old age, exploring information gaps in the understanding of the disablement process, and presenting recommendations and policy options regarding the development and implementation of research and programmes in order to prevent and manage disability in old age. Because of the multifaceted and complex nature of the issue and the great number of approaches and interventions aimed at preventing disability in old age, it was necessary to limit the scope and purpose of the work to cover mainly questions which were dealt with in the participating research centres.

#### The framework and concepts

The development of disability in old age is regarded as a dynamic social phenomenon that relates to individual physiological, psychological and medical conditions as well as socio-economic position, cultural norms and environment. There are many theories about disability with differing definitions of the concept and pathways leading to disability. Within the BURDIS network *the disablement model* was used as the starting framework. The main pathway in the disablement process proceeds from the acquisition of pathology (diseases, injuries) to impairments (anatomical, physiological or mental abnormalities) which generate functional limitations in basic physical and mental actions, ultimately leading to disability (cessation or restriction in carrying out activities of daily living and other social roles). The disablement process is modified by factors related to life style, availability and use of services, ageing processes, and characteristics of the social and physical environment. The most commonly used measures of disability are self-reports of basic activities of daily living (such as mobility and self-care) and instrumental activities of daily living (such as preparing meals, shopping, telephoning, managing money, taking

medication). More recently *performance-based measures of functioning* have been applied to the assessment of functional limitation and consequent disability.

Most studies applying the disablement model have focused on chronic somatic conditions as causes of impairments and functional decline, and the effects of environmental factors have largely been neglected in previous research. In this report attempts are made to also explore the role of the psychological and mental health factors together with environmental factors as predictors of old age disability.

## Predictors of function and disability in old age

The factors underlying functional decline in old age are multiple and vary between individuals and populations. Furthermore, it is obvious that disability is also socially constructed and that it is the existence of a disabling environment which transforms impairments and functional limitations to disabilities. The health and behavioural factors which at an individual level contribute to disability in old age include inappropriately treated diseases, depression, cognitive, sensory and physiological impairment, smoking, sedentary life-style, unhealthy dietary habits, deviance from optimal body weight, high or no alcohol use compared to moderate use, and insufficient social support. Recent evidence suggests that the accumulation of deficits across multiple domains may better explain the development of functional limitation than decline in a single domain. Physical activity, for example, may counteract the effects of some risk factors. Knowledge about the role of genetic factors predisposing older people to functional limitations and disability is still insufficient but the available data suggest that genes play a role in the disablement process

Disability can be defined as a gap between a person's abilities and environmental requirements. Identical physical and mental conditions may result in different patterns of disability depending, for example, on the occupation, housing conditions or family structure of a person. On the other hand, a similar type of disability may arise from different types of health conditions. There are also significant gender differences in disability. Women have a longer duration of life lived with disability and it has been suggested that they may suffer from "multiple jeopardy" i.e. have combinations of social disadvantages. Many studies of socio-economic position and disability in old age have shown that the relationship between measures of material wealth and functional decline is strong with those equipped with more material resources being protected against unfavourable trajectories of change.

Also, cultural factors may produce disability. Prejudice and discrimination in different arenas of life may disable and restrict people's activities even more than impairments and functional limitations do.

#### Disability prevention interventions and research

The development of interventions that may effectively reduce the burden of disability in the older population is a major concern for the social and health care systems of all European and non European countries. In spite of abundance of observational data, evidence that age-associated disability can be prevented or delayed is scarce and limited to small studies that are generally underpowered. The BURDIS network is therefore presenting recommendations concerning the conduct of both clinical trials and large-scale trials of interventions aimed at preventing or delaying disability in older persons:

- Trials aimed at prevention of disability in old age should be considered a priority in the allocation of resources for health and social care research
- Standard criteria should be developed and validated for the identification of older persons at high risk of disability, and a standard operational definition of frailty should be developed
- Given the multifactorial origin of disability, multi-component interventions need to be developed and tested
- Disability-related measures should be systematically introduced among the primary outcomes of intervention trials that target the kinds of diseases and health events that are highly prevalent among the older population
- Research aimed at improving reliability, ecological validity and comparability of tools to measure physical and cognitive function in elderly people should be encouraged
- Research into the roles of environmental factors, including social, physical, economic, cultural and political domains, should be strengthened
- Because in significant part the predictors of old age disability stem from earlier phases of life, it is important to examine the predictors and risk factors also from the life-course perspective and not only rely on the relation to prevailing living conditions and behavioural factors.

While emphasizing the importance and need of new research it is necessary to use the existing knowledge and continue the developmental work which is ongoing in service systems. However, when addressing such a complex problem as disability in old age, it may not be possible to solve all the problems involved through a scientific research and evidence-based approach. Some recommendations may well be based on personal and clinical experience, experiences from other countries, observational studies, common sense and available resources.

#### **Development of health and social services**

Disability in old age should be a focus of all public health policy and programs and cover the whole continuum of services aimed at both preventing disability and restoring functional capacity through rehabilitative measures. In implementing these policies and programs inter-sectoral collaboration is required to be able to meet the challenges of the complex multifaceted nature of the disablement process. This report gives recommendations for the development of health and social services which have gained at least some support from scientific research or are based on some other evidence concerning the disablement process. These services include the following activities, which may to some extent vary between different countries and local contexts:

- Comprehensive geriatric assessment
- Preventive home visits

- Screening
- Home care
- Management of chronic diseases
- Geriatric evaluation and management units
- Medication
- Counselling
- Creating accessible environments

In addition to the abovementioned activities this report describes a great number of both individual and environmental predictors of old age disability which could become targets of interventions within the health and social care services.

#### **Policy options**

Giving recommendations about research policy, the development of services and implementation of policies regarding old age disability prevention was set as the final aim of the network project. The recommendations given are based on the knowledge of the member scientists, consultation with other experts and stakeholders, and a review of the relevant scientific literature.

Research policy options. There is a continued need for the development of theories and models of disability and ageing that, together with empirical research, underscore the broader environmental contexts in which the disablement takes place and explore the roles of medical, psychological and social predictors of disability with the aim of developing effective interventions. There is need for high-quality trans-national studies on disability at older ages for purposes of examining variation and trends in life expectancy free of disability and for trials aiming at prevention. Such studies present special challenges to investigators and without substantial EU investment their implementation is unlikely to be feasible. The BURDIS network has identified several important gaps in research that need filling and prioritized six of them as summarized below:

#### Determinants of old age disabilities

- The life course study of ageing: expanding existing birth cohorts
- Genetic determinants of ageing: establishing ageing modules in new genetic studies
- Establishing of a European core set of functional performance measures

#### Interventions for preventing old age disabilities

- Interventions targeted at healthy individuals: improving physical activity
- Evaluation of public health interventions: protecting older people's health
- Interventions targeted at vulnerable individuals: screening tools to identify those at risk

**Practice policy options.** Given the multifaceted nature and genesis of ageing-associated disabilities, the vision of the required policies and programmes also have to be based on inter-sectoral collaboration amongst multiprofessional teams. Examples of actions aimed

at improving health, health and social services and support for the prevention of disabilities in old age can be summarized as follows:

Improving the health of and health services for older people

- Promoting physical activity through inter-sectoral collaboration
- Comprehensive geriatric services: increasing clinical skills in geriatric medicine
- Screening for frail elderly people in the community

Improving social support for older people

- Providing adequate housing and pensions for older people
- Preventing prejudice and discrimination

**Implementing policies**. An important framework for analysis and action is the independent living movement which underscores active participation, possibilities for choice and prevention and minimization of the uncomfortable consequences associated with the onset of disability. The BURDIS network wishes to emphasize the need for promoting education in gerontology, allocating funds to ageing research at both the international and national levels and developing services to maintain and improve the quality of life of older people in the decades ahead.

## Introduction

The purpose of this report it to examine, on the basis of the existing scientific literature, the analyses carried out in the data bases of the BURDIS network, and other available evidence, the current situation regarding knowledge of the risk factors of disability in old age and the gaps in our knowledge, and the need and directions of further research. These questions were addressed from different perspectives, i.e. physiological and psychological changes with increased vulnerability to disability, genetic factors leading to functional limitations, gender differences in the disablement process, behavioural predictors of functional limitations and disability, and environmental and social factors in the disablement process. Attention was also paid to issues regarding the application of current knowledge and assessment methods in service systems. Finally, recommendations and policy options are presented for different stakeholders on how to promote the prevention and management of old age disability on both the individual and population levels.

#### The concepts and scope of the report

The development of disability in old age is regarded as a dynamic social phenomenon that relates to individual physiological and psychological conditions as well as socio-economic position, cultural norms and broader environmental contexts. The main focus of this report remains, however, at the individual level owing to the fact that environmental factors in the disablement process have largely been neglected in earlier research. Furthermore, the relationships between diseases and disabilities were mainly explored in relation to chronic somatic conditions due to their key role in the disablement process. Attention was, however, paid to certain mental health problems, such as major and minor depression, as causes of disability in old age as well as to environmental issues when research evidence was available. It is worth noting that the most common ways of

assessing disabilities in research and the service sector (self-reports of difficulties in mobility, self-care and instrumental activities of daily living) provide very little information about the factors underlying various disabilities or about disabling environments. In a broader context, disability does not solely reside within individuals who have impairments and functional limitations but also in the social, physical, economic and political environment.

#### Prevalence of disabilities in old age

During the past century the average life expectancy of Europeans has increased by 28 years, from 45 to 73 years. This trend is expected to continue in the future. From the health policy point of view it is of particular significance that the proportion of people aged 80 and over will increase by 40% between 1995 and 2015 in the current European Union countries. It can be assumed that the number of old people with disabilities will also rise, as any possible compression of morbidity would be too small to offset the effect of the rising numbers of older people in these populations.

Several studies in the 1980s and 1990s sought to understand whether lowered mortality is accompanied by improvement or, on the contrary, deterioration of a population's health status (Freedman et al. 2002, Sulander et al. 2003). Several studies found no cohort changes in disability in the *basic activities of daily living*, such as bathing, dressing and managing toilet visits (e.g. Manton et al. 1993, Allaire et al. 1999, Winblad et al. 2001), the most severe types of disability, generally associated with long-term care needs. On the other hand some studies have demonstrated rather clear decreases in the ability to perform *instrumental activities of daily living*, such as household chores, shopping, and medication management (Manton et al. 1993, Crimmins et al. 1997), and also certain basic physical tasks, such as lifting, climbing stairs, and walking (e.g. Allaire et al. 1999).

Approximately 20% of people aged 70 years or older, and 50% of people aged 85 and over, report difficulties in such basic activities of daily living as bathing, dressing, toileting, continence, feeding, and transferring from chair to bed. Difficulties are also common in carrying out instrumental activities of daily living such as using the phone, housekeeping, laundry, public transportation, taking medication, and handling finances.

The prevalence of disabilities is higher among women than men and life-expectancy with disabilities at 65 years of age is also longer in women (e.g. Heikkinen et al. 1997, Salive et al. 1997). Mobility disability is also common (Guralnik et al. 2001, Avlund et al. 2002) and impedes many activities important to independent living.

A significant proportion of older people have even more serious mobility problems. According to the Evergreen project (Heikkinen et al. 1997), about 8% of people aged 75 years were not able to move outdoors without help, and the percentage increased to 28 at the age of 85. The corresponding percentages in relation to the ability to move indoors were about 5 and 14, respectively. Among 75 to 84 -year-olds about one third reported difficulties in hearing during conversation with other persons and about 20% had readability problems with daily papers or books. Speed of behaviour also decreases with advancing age. This is seen, for example, in walking speed (e.g. Rantanen et al. 1999a) and reaction time (Era et al. 1986). Slow walking speed is reported to predict need for help, institutionalization and mortality among old people (Woo et al. 1999, Laukkanen et al. 2000).

## Risk factors of disability in old age

Much research has been dedicated to identifying risk factors for the onset of disability by applying the disablement model originally developed by Nagi (1976). The main pathway of the model consists of four components: pathology, functional impairments, functional limitations, and disability. In old age, pathology causes impairments (e.g. decreased muscle strength, poor balance, low oxygen consumption). Impairments predispose people to functional limitations (e.g. slow walking speed, inability to grasp with hands) which lead to disabilities (e.g. difficulties in mobility and self-care). Research on disability in old age has identified several factors that contribute to shaping the dimensions and severity of disability. These factors include both non-modifiable risk factors, such as age, gender and genetics, and modifiable risk factors, which include both individual factors such as age-related diseases, impairments, functional imitations, poor coping strategies, sedentary lifestyles and other unhealthy behaviours, as well as the definition of the situation by others, and their reactions and expectations, and characteristics of the environment and the degree to which it is free from, or encumbered with physical and

sociocultural barriers (e.g. Nagi 1991, Verbrugge et al. 1994, Finkel et al. 1995, Lawrence et al. 1996, Stuck et al. 1999). The amount and quality of *social support* (social networks, contacts, support and services) also significantly modify the development and effects of disability (e.g. Mendes de Leon et al. 1999, Everard et al. 2000, Koukouli et al. 2002). Some of the modifiable risk factors stem from earlier phases of life (e.g. Vita et al. 1998). It is therefore important to examine the risk factors for disability in old age also from life course perspective and not only in relation to prevalent living conditions.

It has also been observed that older people in less advantaged *socioeconomic positions* report more disabilities than do their more advantaged age-peers (e.g. Guralnik et al. 1993, Parker et al. 1994, Rahkonen et al. 1998, Grundy et al. 2000, Melzer et al. 2000, Melzer et al. 2001, Rautio et al. 2001, Seeman et al. 2001). This disparity seems to persist, though to a decreasing extent, up to the age of 85-90 years.

#### Consequences of disability in old age

Disability increases the risk of need for home help (Linden et al. 1997, Avlund et al. 2001), hospitalization (Wolinsky et al. 1994, Avlund et al. 2001), nursing home admission (Sonn et al. 1996, Laukkanen et al. 2000) and premature death (Jagger et al. 1993, Sonn et al. 1996, Avlund et al. 1998). Older people with difficulties in carrying out daily activities are in a danger of losing independence when placement in a nursing home becomes a realistic alternative (Laukkanen et al. 2000). Such individuals need help to be able to remain community-dwelling. According to self-reports by elderly people, disabilities feature among the most important determinants of diminution in quality of life.

Almost all the indicators of physical and cognitive functioning seem to be related to life-expectancy, showing that older individuals with lowered functional capacity have a significantly shorter life expectancy compared to those with good functional capacity. In addition the economic burden imposed on society by disability is great. It has been estimated that the use of social and health services increases in parallel with the increase in various disabilities (Rice et al. 1992, Salive et al. 1997, Tsuji et al. 1999).

## Prevention of disability in old age

There is an urgent need for effective intervention programmes for disability prevention, which has become an important public health concern (Ebrahim 2002). The issues related to disability in old age cannot effectively be approached only through narrowly conceived interventions but rather by following the advice of Rudolf Virchow, "Mass problems require mass solutions". A comprehensive approach to disability prevention would focus on modifiable individual and environmental risk factors. There are, however, both conflicting findings and gaps in our knowledge concerning the importance of various risk factors and the effectiveness of different kinds of interventions aimed at preventing and managing disability in old age. Further research work focusing on different aspects of disability in old age is therefore necessary for the formulation of successful policies and programmes (Heikkinen 2003).

# Predictors of function and disability in old age

Research on risk factors for disability in old age has mainly focussed on the main line of the individual disablement process. In the health sciences, at least, environmental factors have been studied to a lesser extent. Research on psychological factors, such as negative and positive emotions, personality, cognitive functioning and adjustment have only recently been established as factors affecting the disablement process. Pathological cognitive decline in the form of dementing illnesses, especially, will for many elderly people lead to loss of autonomy.

## Diseases and depressiveness as predictors of disability

According to the disablement model, diseases are the main cause of impairments and functional decline which ultimately may lead to disability. People aged 70 years and over usually have 2-3 chronic conditions, which accounts for around two thirds of total national health care expenditure (Lorig et al. 1999, Nilsson et al. 2002). About 90 % of all 75-year-olds have some clinical diagnosis. Interventions should, therefore, aim at the prevention and effective management of chronic illness (e.g. Grimley Evans 2000). Also, sensory disorders and particularly vision and hearing impairments are important causes of problems in carrying out daily activities (e.g. West et al. 2002).

The prevalence of clinically important depressive symptoms among community-dwelling older adults ranges from approximately 8% to 16% (Blazer 2003). For example in the UK depression affects 10-15% of people over 65 living at home (Anderson 2002). Even higher figures have been reported (Heikkinen et al. 2002). Depressive symptoms are more frequent among the oldest old, but the higher frequency is explained by factors associated with ageing, such as a higher proportion of women, more physical disability, co-morbidity, more cognitive impairment, and lower economic status. Many underlying causes of depressive mood have a social, economic or environmental background (e.g. emotional and social loneliness, poverty, poor living conditions and negative life events

including losses of various kinds). It seems that depressive symptoms and disorders can result from functional limitations as well as cause them (Wells et al.1989, Penninx et al. 1998, Heikkinen et al. 2004). When depressive symptoms are associated with sufficient disruption in everyday function, they tend to have a demonstrable public health impact (Johnsson et al. 1992, Judd et al. 1996). Despite a favourable response to treatment, latelife depression remains largely undetected and untreated. (Anderson 2002, Blazer 2003).

#### **Functional limitations**

Recently, it has been suggested that measuring function at the level of the whole organism or person may provide a more uniform approach for research on functional aspects of health, particularly in cross-cultural settings. Functional limitations are measures independent of environmental influences, and may thus clarify the causes of changes in functional aspects of health. For example, within each category of disability, functional limitation values show considerable spread. This may, at least partly, be due to possible changes in population disability levels arising out of environmental modifications, increased use of assistive devices and changing cultural norms. Measures of functional limitation, however, provide more powerful evidence of functions per se improving or deteriorating. Examples of functional limitations include walking a given distance, lifting and carrying a given weight and climbing stairs.

For the assessment of functional limitations, both self- and proxy report as well as performance based measures may be used. However, there remain several aspects of assessment that still need to be developed further. These include standardization of the measurement of functional limitations in terms of which are the most important functions to measure, measurement procedures, clinically relevant cut-off or threshold values and criteria for a meaningful change over time.

#### Physiologic predictors of functional limitations

Impairment refers to the consequences of disease or injury to an organ system. Examples of impairment include muscle strength, vision, hearing or tactile sensitivity. Extensive information is available about various impairments as predictors of functional limitation

and disability. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health provides an exhaustive listing of these (WHO, 2001). However, focusing on individual impairments has not proved to be sufficient in understanding disablement. A consideration of co-impairments appears to hold more promise. As most studies have focused on the independent effects of various impairments, little information is available on risk for disability that results from the combined effects of multiple impairments, or as they are termed here, co-impairments. Functional limitations may be better explained by the accumulation of deficits across multiple domains rather than by any single specific impairment (Duncan et al.1993). Tinetti et al. (1995) found that when the number of impairments (lower and upper extremity, sensory and affective impairments) increased from zero to one, two, and three or more, the proportion of participants experiencing functional dependence doubled from 7% to 14% to 28% to 60%, respectively. The impact of co-impairments on functional limitation and disability may be greater than the sum of those impairments singly. Cross-sectionally, the odds of severe walking limitation was ten times greater among those who had both strength and balance impairments compared to those who had only one or the other (Rantanen et al. 1999b). Among those who did not have a severe walking limitation at baseline, during the three succeeding years the relative risk of onset of severe walking limitation adjusted for age, height, weight and race was more than five times greater in the group with the poorest balance and strength compared to the group with the best balance and strength. Among those who had good balance, strength was not associated with the risk for developing walking limitation, whereas among those with balance impairment good muscle strength decreased the risk for future walking limitation.

Studying co-impairments is particularly appropriate in older people, because with increasing age the proportion of those with impairments in multiple physiological systems increases. To develop prevention and rehabilitation programs aimed at decreasing severe functional limitations, risk factors and their interaction need to be understood.

#### Genetic factors and functional limitations

Currently some, if limited, knowledge exists on the role of genetic factors predisposing older people to functional limitation and disability. Particularly scarce, however, is information about the underlying mechanisms.

A recent analysis of data from the Finnish Twin Study on Aging (FITSA) examined genetic and environmental effects on maximal isometric strength among 199 pairs of 63 to 76 –year-old female twins. The results showed that handgrip and knee extension strength shared a genetic component explaining 14% of the variation in handgrip and 31% of the variation in knee extension strength. Furthermore, a common non-genetic familial component was observed (Tiainen et al. 2004). According to results from the Swedish Adoption Twin of Aging (SATSA) study, the change in muscle strength over time, on the other hand, seemed to be non-genetic (Finkel et al. 2003). Another analysis of the FITSA study showed a moderate genetic component (34 %) explaining individual differences in balance measured as postural sway (Pajala et al. 2004).

Functional limitations were examined by Carmelli et al. (2000) using a lower extremity performance test. The heritability of the lower extremity test score was 57%. Disability phenotype was studied in large Danish Twin Study using self-reported difficulty in three functional domains. The heritability of the scores varied between 34-47% among women aged 80 years and over, while among younger women (75-79 years) the range was 15-43% (Christensen et al. 2000). These results suggest that genes play a role in the disablement process.

#### Behavioural predictors of functional limitations and disability

*Physical activity.* In cross-sectional studies, physically inactive people often obtain poorer results in physiological and sensory-motor tests, such as tests on aerobic capacity, muscle strength, postural balance, psychomotor speed and bone mineral content. Physically active people on the other hand maintain a higher level of physiological function, such as muscle strength, than their sedentary counterparts (Rantanen et al. 1997). Exercisers have been found to maintain good mobility and independence into old

age (LaCroix et al. 1993). Among people surviving until very old age, even the period of disability prior to death has been found to be shorter among those, who were physically active earlier in life. (Leveille et al. 1999).

*Dietary habits.* Deviance from normal weight has been shown to be a long-term risk factor for disability, with under- and overweight people having higher risks than those in the normal weight range (Guralnik et al. 1989). Overweight may increase the risk of disability through increasing susceptibility to diseases, e.g. diabetes. It also forms an extra load, placing increased demands on the musculoskeletal system and thus encumbering mobility. However, some researchers have suggested that in older people moderate overweight is beneficial as people with more weight and consequently more muscle are better able to tolerate emergency situations, such as trauma or surgery (Andres et al. 1985, Potter et al. 1988). If muscle has been severely depleted by wasting due to inactivity, aging, or low energy intake, the amino acid reserve is low and healing may be compromised; hence underweight is associated with increased risk (Stini 1991). On the other hand, underweight is not consistently associated with increased mortality risk among older people (Harris et al. 1988). Thin people comprise a mix of those who are lean because they are physically active, and those who are at greater mortality risk, because they have lost weight due to a sickness or who are thin because they smoke (Harris et al. 1988, Willett et al. 1997). Healthy, thin, non-smoking people may not be at increased mortality risk (Harris et al. 1988, Willett et al. 1999).

Smoking. Non-smoking women have been found to survive on average 1.6-3.9 years longer than women who smoke (Ferrucci et al. 1999). It was observed that at the age when smokers were disabled and close to death, most non-smokers were still non-disabled. Smoking has been found to be associated with increased risk of diseases, but it also has an effect on physiological function independent of diseases. For example, smokers have been found to have poorer postural balance than non-smokers (Iki et al. 1994). Furthermore, psychomotor speed and performance of integrated movements as well as cognitive tasks was found to be impaired among smokers (Hill 1989, Nelson et al. 1994), whereas muscle strength was not affected by smoking (Nelson et al. 1994).

## Psychological predictors of disability

Cognitive dysfunction is one of the most important factors that make it impossible for older people to live independently at home. For example, in Sweden around two thirds of those in sheltered accommodation / old people's homes have symptoms of dementia. Dementia is usually defined as an impairment affecting multiple cognitive domains, especially memory, as well as severe disruption of activities and social functioning in the activities of daily life (American Psychological Association, 1987). The two most common dementia illnesses are Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia (Gatz et al. 1996). The prevalence of dementia in the population aged 65+ has been estimated in most studies to be around 5%, and increasing with increasing age from 1% at the age of 70 to up to 40 % or more at ages 85 or 90. The extent to which there are gender differences in the dementia illnesses has been discussed, but no clear results yet obtained. Genetic factors are relatively important for the onset of Alzheimer's disease while heritability seems to be less significant for vascular dementia (Gatz et al. 1997, Pedersen et al. 2004). There are also different environmental candidate factors that might increase the risk for or protect against dementia, e.g. head trauma, some medicines, B12 deficiency and other environmental exposures.

Intact cognitive skills are necessary to respond to the demands and needs of the environment. In particular, adaptation and optimization in functioning allowing for continued independence are dependent on the preservation of cognitive skills (Schaie 1990). However, several studies have shown that emotional factors as well as cognitive factors are associated with functional limitations and disability among older adults (e.g. Laukkanen et al. 1993, Smits et al. 1997). It has been suggested that psychological resources can strongly influence the relationship between personal capability and environmental demand by either increasing personal capability, reducing the environmental demand or both (Femia et al. 1997). For example, a recent analysis showed that having high levels of fatalism, low levels of self-confidence, and low levels of intellectual resources predicted greater difficulty in carrying out important life activities 20 years later (Caplan et al. 2003). The effect of positive emotions on health trajectories was studied among women aged 65 years and older living in the community. Emotional vitality was defined as having a high sense of personal mastery, being happy,

and having low depressive symptomatology and anxiety. Among women without the specific disability at baseline, emotional vitality was associated with a significantly decreased risk for incident disability. Emotional vitality was also associated with a lower risk of dying. These results were not caused simply by the absence of depression since protective health effects remained when emotionally vital women were compared with women who were not emotionally vital and not depressed (Penninx et al. 2000).

A study by Mellors et al. (1994) describes hypertensive individuals as having personalities characterized by neuroticism and introversion and / or extroversion and low psychoticism. Personality traits that may lead to emotional conflict or to the suppression or expression of anger leading in turn to immunological and physiological changes, and eventual hypertension. Considering that hypertension is strongly related to cardiovascular disease which in turn, is associated with disability, it is important to recognize personality dispositions on the development of disease and disability.

#### Gender differences in disability

There is a marked gender difference in longevity. In European countries women often live about five years longer than men. Years in full health, however, is another matter. In Sweden, for example, men aged 65-84 are expected to have a one-year shorter disability-adjusted life year (DALY) compared to women in these ages, but to live one year longer in full health (Socialstyrelsen 2001). Prevalence is determined by incidence and duration of a condition. Duration is determined by recovery and case fatality rates. Women have a longer duration of life lived with disability than men. The reasons for this are still partly unknown, although a higher prevalence of fatal conditions among men and of non-fatal chronic conditions among women (Gold et al. 2002) has been shown. It may be that constitutional factors, such as lower muscle strength and lower bone density in women, and higher rates of certain negative life-style factors, contribute to this. Several of these factors are modifiable and, if targeted, would likely reduce the burden of disability in the older population (Leveille et al. 2000).

Women tend to report more ADL problems then men (Socialstyrelsen 2000). The concept "multiple jeopardy" has been introduced to describe older women who have combinations of social disadvantages (Hammond 1995), such as lower income, lesser

education, and more often widowhood. Social factors like these could, at least in part, explain the gender differences in care-utilisation among the elderly. It has been suggested that people who live alone need formal help to a much higher extent than people who live with someone (Socialstyrelsen 2004).

## **Environmental predictors of disability**

Disability is often defined as a gap between a person's abilities and environmental requirements. We can speak of a disabling environment. Social and environmental factors play a major role in determining whether functional limitations are expressed as disability or not. In disability assessment, a person is placed in the context of the physical and social environment and its challenges and limitation in the fulfilment of social roles is assessed. The most commonly assessed dimensions of social role fulfilment are basic activities of daily living (such as basic mobility and personal care), instrumental activities of daily living, (doing housework, managing finances or using the telephone), paid and unpaid role activities, (occupation, parenting or being a student), social activities, (attending group activities and socializing), and leisure activities (sport and physical recreation, reading or travel; Jette 2003).

Identical physical and mental conditions may result in different patterns of disability depending, for example, on the occupation, housing conditions or family structure of a person (Jette 2003). On the other hand, similar types of disability may arise from different types of health conditions. For example, stroke may cause decreased muscle strength and impaired balance leading to walking limitation and making grocery shopping difficult. Walking limitation may also result from arthritis when pain predisposes people to decreased muscle strength and poor postural control.

The interaction between mobility limitation and environmental components adds further complexity to the disablement process. Disablement may be expressed, for example, in a pattern of avoiding physical challenges in the environment (Shumway-Cook et al. 2003). People with mobility limitation often try to avoid travelling alone, climbing stairs, going to crowded places or using escalators. While this potentially decreases their autonomy and quality of life, it also has a detrimental effect on the amount individuals move in the community. When people do not regularly encounter

environmental or social challenges, they gradually get out of practice with respect to the activities in question; this in turn is likely to lead to further deterioration in physical status and social interactions. It has been demonstrated that older people who report living in troublesome neighbourhoods (traffic, noise, crime, trash and litter, poor lighting, and inadequate public transportation) have a greater risk of functional deterioration than those in better neighbourhoods (e.g. Balfour et al. 2002).

Social role fulfilment is strongly related to social position, thus underlining the significance of socio-economic factors in the disablement process. Social position is usually described by indicators of educational attainment, occupation and income. In a life-course perspective, level of education usually reflects a characteristic acquired early in life, representing the transition from a social position largely received from parents to an achieved social position as an adult (Lynch et al. 2000, Singh-Manoux et al. 2002). Occupation influences living conditions in adult life and represents the major structural link between education and income. Income relates directly to the material conditions that may influence health, whether or not a person is inside or outside the labour market (Arber et al. 1993). Women are often at a disadvantage in factors such as socio-economic situation (Moen 1996, Vågerö 1997), not least in older cohorts where women have less education and participate less in the work force.

The majority of studies of social position and disability in old age have shown a strong relationship between measures of material wealth and functional decline among those equipped with more material resources and thus protected against unfavourable trajectories of change (e.g. Robert et al. 1996, Mackenbach 2001, Avlund et al. 2003, Avlund et al. in press). There also is growing evidence that social relations (e.g. social networks, close friends, presence of a confidant) importantly affect the ability of older individuals to function normally in their daily life (e.g. Holstein et al. 1997, Mendes de Leon et al. 1999, Michael et al. 1999, Everard et al. 2000, Avlund et al. 2004).

More recently, evidence has accumulated to suggest that community differences in what has been referred to as social capital (cooperative network of social relationships, levels of trust, perceived reciprocity, membership in various groups or associations) have significant independent effects on disability and health (e.g. Hyyppä et al. 2003).

# Disability prevention interventions and research

The development of interventions that may effectively reduce the burden of disability in the older population is a major priority for the national health care systems. In spite of the abundance of observational data, firm evidence that age-associated disability can be prevented or delayed is scarce and limited to small studies that have generally been underpowered (Center for Drug Evaluation and Research 1989, Penninx et al. 2001, McCormack 2002). In fact, while the literature shows some indication of a decline in the age-specific prevalence of disability, the magnitude of that decline is minimal and wholly inadequate to offset the projected massive increment in the prevalence of disability due to population aging, which will cause a disproportionate expansion in the number of persons in the oldest age groups.

## **Need for trials on disability prevention**

Designing and conducting studies aimed at assessing whether disability can be prevented or delayed presents special challenges. In particular, because of the multifactorial origin of disability in the elderly, disability prevention trials are generally very costly, as they are based on complex, multifactorial interventions and require a large number of participants (Di Bari et al. 2001, Gill et al. 2002, Fransen et al. 2003). Additionally, while disability prevention trials provide important information to health care planners, they are unlikely to be a priority for pharmaceutical companies and thus need to be funded out of public resources. Thus, fostering the implementation of these trials should be accomplished by the introduction of special policies in the funding mechanism for health care research.

Beyond fostering the conduct of *clinical trials on disability prevention*, it is important to encourage the incorporation of disability outcomes in studies focussing on diseases that are highly prevalent in the older population. In the last few years, the medical scientific community has become aware that the results of clinical trials

performed in young and adult persons cannot be directly generalized to the elderly (Hutchins et al. 1999, Lee et al. 2001). A number of randomized controlled trials on the effects of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions for the prevention of acute medical events (such as myocardial infarction or hip fractures) have been conducted. These trials included design features that improved the generalizability of their findings to the older population (ICH 1993, Rochon et al. 1998). In general, they showed that interventions that are effective in young-adult persons are similarly effective in older patients without substantial disability and/or co-morbidity. In contrast, the effectiveness of many interventions in older persons with co-morbidity and frailty is somewhat questionable. Interestingly, none of the trials aimed at the prevention of specific cardiovascular or non-cardiovascular outcomes was able to demonstrate prevention or delay of onset of disability in the elderly. In fact, the only disability prevention trials that have shown promising results are those based on complex and multidimensional approaches, such as interventions to reduce the effects of multiple risk factors and care plans based on the comprehensive geriatric assessment articulated in multiple settings.

Despite this pressing need, guidelines for *large-scale trials of interventions* aimed at preventing or delaying disability in older persons have not yet been established, especially for complex interventions, those "made up of various interconnecting parts" (Campbell et al. 2000, Stuck et al. 2000). Examples of complex interventions are the introduction of guidelines in multiple settings, promotion of health behaviours using multiple approaches, modular interventions on multiple risk factors, and the implementation of care plans that foster integration between the health and social services. While these complex interventions are the kind more likely to have a stronger effect on the health of the older population, problems often arise in the evaluation of their effectiveness as researchers have not fully defined and developed adequate methodological tools. In particular, the limited research available indicates that one of the key requirements for effectiveness and efficiency is the ability to identify a population of older persons that are still non disabled but are at high risk of disability. In the most recent literature, this condition is defined as the "the frailty syndrome" (Fried et al. 2001, Malmberg et al. 2002, Ferrucci et al. 2004).

#### **Development of trials for disability prevention**

Given the complexity of the factors underlying old age disability and special challenges that the conducting of trials aimed at prevention of disability presents to investigators, there is ample room for the selection of targets and research approaches. The participants in the BURDIS network have produced a list of recommendations concerning the development of trials. These are presented below.

Standard criteria should be developed and validated for the identification of older persons at high risk for disability, as these are the ideal candidates for trials of disability prevention. Criteria should be selected that are: 1) simple and feasible in a screening program conducted in the primary care setting, 2) meaningful to professionals within health and social care, health and social care planners and policy makers, and 3) important for guiding health and social care policies. As a first approximation, criteria in the following domains should be considered as these are generally considered components of the frailty syndrome in the literature: mobility, muscle strength, nutritional intake, weight change, balance, endurance, fatigue and physical activity. These domains are easy to assess and are strong, independent predictors of disability. Performance-based measures of lower extremity function capture composite information on strength, balance and mobility, and may be a good, simple approach to the screening of older individuals at high risk for disability.

A standard operational definition of frailty should be developed, validated and introduced in the minimum set of data collected from patients who access any type of health care service. Exclusion criteria should be minimized.

Given the multifactorial origin of disability, complex interventions that require the integration of multiple components are more likely to be effective than simple, unique interventions. However, multi-component interventions are difficult to standardize and reproduce. Therefore, it is important that pilot data on each single component of the intervention is collected and evaluated before the primary trial is designed. Examples of complex, multi-component interventions that need to be tested are:

a. Interventions for the promotion of supervised and unsupervised physical activity and exercise in the older population;

- b. Implementation of guidelines for access and permanence in in-hospital and community-based rehabilitation programs;
- c. Post-hospital discharge support programs based on comprehensive geriatric assessments;
- d. Screening of frailty in the primary care setting followed by interventions addressing multiple risk factors;
- e. Financial support for families that agree to maintain older disabled individuals in their homes;
- f. Counselling on health behaviours in retirement communities;
- g. Implementation of standard assessment instruments in nursing homes that facilitate the early identification of risk factors for accelerated disability progression.

Disability-related measures should be systematically incorporated in the primary outcomes of pharmacological and non-pharmacological intervention trials that target diseases and health events that are highly prevalent in the older population. This is important, because functional status is by far the most important factor affecting quality of life and health care utilization in old age. Ideally, objective, performance-based and self-reported measures of physical function should be collected in these trials. In fact, performance-based measures of physical function obtained under standardized conditions are highly reliable, have strong predictive validity, and are somewhat sensitive to change, although performance at the time of assessment may not represent the usual performance of the tested individual.

Research aimed at improving the reliability, ecological validity and comparability of tools for the measurement of physical and cognitive functions in the elderly should be encouraged, especially translational research looking at the feasibility of administering these instruments in current clinical practice and in different health and social care settings. The currently available instruments are problematic for several reasons, including:

a. Given that functional status may fluctuate over short periods, nosological definitions of disability that take into account the time and reversibility

- dimensions should be developed. Examples are: any new disability, transient disability (that resolves within a certain time period) or persistent disability (that lasts over a defined time period or more);
- b. The relationship between self-report and objective ability is unclear, either because the instruments used to measure objective ability assess rudimentary skills and the effect of cognitive function, or because those that mimic traditional activities of daily living have been validated mostly in the rehabilitation setting;
- c. Disability is often associated with inability to provide self-reported information. Thus, pre-defined methods of assessing disability through proxy should be developed and extensively validated.

Disability can be reduced by the social networks surrounding the individual. It is possible to increase the strength of the individual's close social network by e.g. respite care, which needs to be developed. Simple interventions against loneliness and grief have been shown to be useful, but need to be further developed. Educational programs aimed at integrating the social structures in the environment such as home-help services, local associations, house owners and care-givers, etc., to reduce the environmental demands, and thus disability, can be further developed.

A sensible strategy in developing a positive culture of ageing would need to be based upon prevention of the development of disability and forestalling the formation of a disabling environment, including the improvement of housing conditions and neighbourhood quality in order to facilitate the engagement of older adults in social and physical activities. In future research on disability in old age the effects of the physical environment should be accorded more attention and instruments developed for standardizing the required assessments.

# **Development of services**

Disability in old age should be a focus of all public health policy and programs and cover the whole continuum of services aimed at both preventing disability and restoring functional capacity through rehabilitative measures. This report gives recommendations for the development of services which are supported at least to some extent by research findings or for which other scientific evidence of their effects on the disablement process has been obtained. It is obvious that further research and development work is required in order to broaden the knowledge basis for appropriate interventions, as argued in the previous chapter.

#### **Geriatric interventions**

Today's geriatric interventions draw upon knowledge obtained at all levels within the biological as well as psychological and social research disciplines. This has broadened our knowledge about how it might be possible to maintain or re-establish the loss of functional capacity in the elderly. From a series of clinical controlled studies on the effect of geriatric assessment and rehabilitation we now also know more about how such efforts could be implemented.

Geriatric research aims at increasing the possibilities for older people to maintain their functional capacity and regain it after succumbing to a disease. Interventions in this area are directed at health promotion, disease prevention, treatment and rehabilitation and take the form of socio-cultural activities as well as health and care management in the community and in hospitals.

#### Comprehensive geriatric assessment

At all stages in "the treatment chain" from healthy, elderly people, independent of help to clients in home care or in institutions, it is possible to prevent (further) functional loss by

interdisciplinary geriatric assessment. The tool is "comprehensive geriatric assessment", defined as a multidisciplinary evaluation in which the multiple problems of older persons are uncovered, described and, if possible, explained and in which the resources and strengths of an individual are catalogued, need for services assessed, and a coordinated care plan developed to focus interventions on his / her problems (Schroll 1989). This leads to early detection of multipathology, reduction of polypharmacy, avoidance of secondary losses of ability, the making of simultaneous efforts, and coordination between hospital and primary sector.

#### **Preventive Home Visits**

The effects of home visits to prevent functional decline in elderly persons have, in a recent meta-analysis of 18 trials, been shown to be effective, provided the subsequent interventions are based on a multidimensional geriatric assessment, include multiple follow-up home visits and target persons at lower risk for death (Stuck et al. 2002). The ability to reduce disabilities among elderly people is related to the home visitor's experience and performance. In those at low risk for functional impairment, especially, the "flexible approach" is feasible. It leaves considerable discretion to visitors on how to meet the needs of each individual's situation.

#### **Screening**

Reviews of the research literature and the guidelines of various professional organizations with a view to presenting summary recommendations for prevention and screening in older adults have concluded that there is evidence supporting periodic screening for many common illnesses and their risk factors in elderly populations (Goldberg et al. 1997, Mehr et al. 2002). There is, however, no standard method for conducting health assessments, and the results therefore vary between studies. Programmes to screen for assessing various modalities of functional capacity amongst elderly populations have also been applied in primary health care, but the results remain inconclusive, and we need to wait for findings from the ongoing evaluation projects before regular preventive check-ups for various functions can be recommended.

#### Home care

Most elderly people wish to live in their own homes as long as possible, and various forms of home-based care are provided to support this aim. There is, however, no evidence-based model of care available, and social and health care professionals and policy makers continue to find "local" solutions in their daily provision of community services to frail older citizens. Although descriptions of structural, organisational and funding characteristics of health and social care services exist, there are none that are able to define with confidence the target home-care patient, nor the optimal configuration of primary care or specialist doctors, nurses, therapists, care assistants and home helps for particular patient and client groups. The same uncertainty exists about the effectiveness of night and weekend home-care services and the use of guidelines or management tools. There is observational evidence to suggest that the services currently in place do not maintain an appropriate balance between care of existing disabilities and prevention of functional decline.

#### Management of chronic diseases

Disease, particularly chronic disease, is the main cause of disability in old age. Patients with chronic diseases account for majority of hospitalizations in European countries. Many are elderly patients with multipathology, functional limitations and related social problems. It is therefore important that interventions are also aimed at the effective management of chronic illness by providing both clients and service providers with adequate information, skills, incentives and resources. Evidence of the value (cost, wellbeing) of comprehensive assessment, optimised medical treatment, disease-specific interventions, patient education, physical exercise, nutritional advice and follow-up have been found in cases of ischemic heart disease, heart failure, diabetes mellitus, stroke and in patients with hip fracture and complex geriatric conditions (Griffin 1998, Anderson et al. 2002, Joliffe et al. 2002, Lloyd-Williams et al. 2002).

The development of new medical technologies, which can successfully be used in the treatment of serious conditions in middle-age (e.g. different coronary events), may in later life lead to an increased need for effective tertiary prevention and chronic disease management in order to prevent physical and mental decline in these patients. There is also evidence to suggest that a chronic disease self-management program can improve health status while reducing hospitalization (Lorig et al. 1999).

We also know that intervention strategies at the level of both the community and person can improve the quality of life of older people (Blumenthal et al. 1999, Rybarczyk et al. 1999, Blazer 2002). By focusing interventions on well-known risk-factors of depressiveness, adding support when needed, strengthening protective factors and improving coping skills, we can develop effective disability prevention strategies and at the same time promote mental well-being in late life.

#### Geriatric evaluation and management units

The goals of geriatric rehabilitation are to restore and maintain an optimal level of function despite the disabling effect of diseases and injuries. These goals are achieved by detecting rehabilitation needs early and getting rehabilitation off to an early start to avoid complications, i.e. establishing the rehabilitation process as a continuum from geriatric expertise to social and family support and promotion of active follow-up.

A survey of the literature (Handoll et al. 2003), including 30 scientific studies (9496 patients) in randomized trials containing valid end points, has been able to show significant reduction in mortality, postponement of nursing home placement, and some differences in outcome regarding function and costs.

Specialized geriatric rehabilitation is complicated but effective when properly performed. Interdisciplinary teamwork, targeting of patients, comprehensive assessment and intensive and patient-targeted rehabilitation seem to characterize the most effective programs (Sletvold et al. 1996, Jonsson et al. 2003).

#### **Appropriate medication**

There has been a continuous rise in the use of therapeutic drugs, especially in the industrialized world, which has also meant that an increasing number of drugs are being prescribed for elderly people. A study among community-dwelling people aged 65-84 years showed that they used on average 2.2 prescribed drugs per person, and that one

fifth of the subjects had a greater number of drugs in simultaneous use (over 4 drugs) than is generally recommended (Laukkanen et al. 1992). The increased use of psychotropic drugs (sedatives, neuroleptics, antidepressants) also increases unwanted effects such as confusion, accidental falls, memory decline and behavioural changes (Gurnack 1997, Armour et al. 2002). The pharmacokinetics of drugs changes with age (e.g. Sadena et al. 2003), which, given the high prevalence of co-morbidity in old age and the interactions of drugs, complicates the medication situation among this segment of the population. This is an area which merits more careful evaluation and control, also from the vantage point of preventing functional decline and disability.

#### **Counselling**

There is an apparent need to develop counselling services for elderly people to assist them to better cope with the multitude of questions related, for example, to ways of counteracting the development of disabilities, managing chronic conditions, developing and maintaining healthy life styles, and being actively involved in social life. It is possible to counsel older people in the course of the various contacts they have with the service system, but specific arrangements for this purpose may also be justified, depending on the infrastructures and services available in different localities.

Exercise. Health care professionals have frequent personal contacts with older people, and are thus a significant resource for the promotion of regular physical activity. In particular, patients with ascertained risk factors or recently diagnosed diseases are candidates for behaviour change. However, only limited amount of evidence exists about the feasibility and effectiveness of exercise promotion in the context of health care organizations. Individualized physiotherapy may not be considered feasible owing to financial constraints. Sustainable forms of exercise include walking for fitness, homebased exercise or supervised exercise groups. Some evidence exists that promoting more effective use of available resources, such as exercise classes provided by the community, is a cost-effective way to increase physical activity levels (Stewart et al. 1997). A recommended strategy for health care professionals in promoting physical activity among older people is to alter the key mediators of physical activity. Self-regulatory skills, social

support, perceived benefits, motivational variables and self-efficacy have been identified as the main determinants of exercise adherence in previous studies (King et al. 1998). Currently, the practices of health care professionals in promoting exercise among older people vary widely between EU member states and even within countries.

*Nutrition*. Even healthy elderly people may, through dietary modifications, better maintain health, delay the onset of some diseases and prevent functional decline (Bales et al. 2002). Nutrition education and counselling thus seem to be necessary in assisting older people to comprehend new information about healthy nutrition and apply it to their own situations (Sahyoun 2002). Both obesity and underweight are common problems in older people. According to the Cohrane review of Milne et al. (2002), elderly patients produced a small but constant weight gain by nutritional supplementation, resulting in a modest beneficial effect on mortality and decrease in the length of hospital stay. With respect to obesity in older ages only a few prevention programmes have been developed and implemented and success rates have been low. Much work remains to be done to identify which approaches will be of greatest benefit in both healthy older people and in older patients with nutritional frailty.

**Self-care.** The coming generations of old people will have better education and more material, social and psychological resources to enable their active involvement in self-care tasks, including appropriate medication and other treatments of diseases, healthy diet, sufficient physical activity, maintenance of adequate level of hygiene, and use of modern technology for information and safety purposes.

#### **Creating accessible environments**

Ageing is associated with increasing difficulty in getting around on foot both indoors and outdoors. One definition of impaired mobility is the inability to walk a specified distance, to climb stairs without assistance and to cross a street controlled by traffic lights in the time allotted (e.g. Hirvensalo et al. 2000). It is important that in the future, the needs of older people are taken more closely into account in the design of services and the improvements in housing conditions and neighbourhood quality in order to facilitate the

involvement of older adults in social and physical activities in their homes and neighbourhoods.

# **Policy options**

Making recommendations for research policy, the development of services and the implementation of policies aimed at the prevention of disability in old age was set as the final aim of the network project. It is understood that the ongoing increase in life-expectancy, and also healthy life-expectancy, relates to the overall increase in wealth in many societies and consequent improvement in public health. In deciding on what policy options to recommend the aim was not to cover the whole spectrum of issues related to the prevention of disability in old age but rather to focus on a few important items which relate to the evaluations presented in the preceding chapters of this report. The recommendations given are based on the knowledge of the member scientists, consultation with other experts and stakeholders, the analyses carried out using the network data bases and the review of earlier relevant scientific literature.

### **Research policy options**

There is a continuing need for the development of age-related disability theories and models and empirical research that underscore the importance of the environmental contexts in which the disablement process takes place and explore the roles of medical, psychological and social predictors of disability with the aim of developing effective preventive interventions.

The 6<sup>th</sup> Framework Programme of European Union that provided funding of €17 billion over 5 years for mainly trans-national projects was announced in 2002. Unlike the previous 5<sup>th</sup> Framework Programme that funded over 100 projects concerned with ageing, there appears to be no direct interest in this area of research. Non-thematic research is supported under the Marie-Curie scheme which will support fellowships, transfer of knowledge, conferences and training courses, and research training networks. However, this scheme does not provide for the direct funding of non-thematic research projects. While the need for <u>high quality trans-national studies on disability</u> at older ages

is clear for purposes of examining variation and trends in life expectancy free of disability, conducting them is extremely difficult. Similarly, conducting trials aimed at the prevention of disability also presents special challenges to investigators. Without substantial EU investment such studies are unlikely to be feasible. It is therefore important that in the 7<sup>th</sup> Framework Programme research on population ageing, including the prevention of old age disability, is included as one the priority areas.

Against the current European funding background, our policy options for research need to be carefully considered. The BURDIS project has identified several important gaps in research (see pp. 22-24) that need filling, and prioritized six of them as summarized in the following sections.

#### Determinants of disabilities in old age

The life course study of ageing: expanding existing birth cohorts. There are too few cohort studies that permit examination of the importance of biological, life-style, social, physical and mental health, and environmental factors in determining functional limitations and disability in old age and the disablement process. A key policy option is to establish such studies by expanding existing birth cohort studies with data modules on functional limitations and disability.

Genetic determinants of ageing: establishing ageing modules in new genetic studies. A fairly high proportion of markers of functional limitations and disability appear to be heritable. Many new initiatives in genetic epidemiology are being established (e.g. UK Biobank) with the aim of studying genetic causes and gene-environment interactions relevant to common diseases. The inclusion of phenotypic data of relevance to the ageing process (e.g. muscle morphology and function, osteopenia, cognitive impairment, functional performance measures) would be a step forward in aiding understanding of the ageing process. Trans-national studies would also be of great value as they provide variation in the amount of genetic admixture and linkage disequilibrium which may help in distinguishing true genetic effects. FP6 funding might be obtainable for such studies.

Establishment of a European core set of functional performance measures. There is an apparent need for the cross-national harmonization and standardization of methods for the assessment of impairment and functional decline in the most essential functions (e.g. the minimum data set-approach) regarding old age disability, which would include both measures of functional limitations and activities of daily living. This approach might include both the use of the already established data bases for the definition of the most critical targets of the assessments and a new prospective study to test the feasibility, reliability and validity of the selected performance-based measures of function. The usefulness and applicability of the international classification of functioning, disability and health (WHO, 2001) could be considered in this connection.

#### Interventions for preventing old age disabilities

Interventions targeted at healthy individuals: improving physical activity. While there is little doubt that physical activity is of great importance in the maintenance of health in older age, methods of improving activity patterns have been little researched. The nature of intervention in terms of both content and "dose" requires work. Links with interventions aimed at reducing obesity would be strategically useful.

Evaluation of public health interventions: protecting older people's health. There is very little scientific evidence on the best means of making healthy diets, increased physical activity and greater social engagement the most desired options at older ages. Evaluating the effects of increased financial and social support for older people would also be relevant. Randomised controlled trials ought to be promoted and the use of alternative and robust methods of evaluation should also be more widely applied.

Interventions targeted at vulnerable individuals: screening tools to identify those at risk. It is of considerable importance to be able to identify those older people who are not yet dependent at a point where clinical interventions may make a difference. Declines in specific aspects of functional performance may be useful in this regard, if they can be shown to predict important clinical outcomes when used in primary care.

### **Practice policy options**

Given the multifaceted nature and genesis of ageing-associated disabilities, the vision of the required policies and programs also has to be based on inter-sectoral collaboration amongst multiprofessional teams. Examples are given in the following section on actions that could be taken to improve health, health services and social support aiming at preventing disabilities in old age.

#### Improving the health of and health services for older people

**Promoting physical activity through inter-sectoral collaborations.** Single-sector approaches to promoting activity and exercise among older people are not very successful as the barriers to activity are multi-factorial. There is a need to establish inter-sectoral groups to plan activities to promote increased activity levels at all ages.

Comprehensive geriatric services: increasing clinical skills in geriatric medicine. Evidence supports the use of comprehensive geriatric assessment and management of sick elderly people. Increasing older people's access to such services through additional training of all health professionals in both primary and secondary care in assessing and managing older people is needed.

**Screening for frail elderly people in the community.** Evidence suggests that screening for frailty, or incipient frailty, can successfully identify people who will benefit from comprehensive geriatric services. These services now need to be put in place.

#### Improving social support for older people

The provision of adequate housing and pensions for older people should not be taken for granted as these are the major means by which elderly people's quality of life is improved. In the poorer countries of the European Union, access to decent housing and pensions is not assured, and hence such policies have top priority. It must be remembered that there are important and widening differences in disability-free years of life between people in different socio-economic positions.

Preventing prejudice and discrimination. Different societies produce disabilities quite apart from those that result from impairments and functional decline. Prejudice and discrimination in different arenas of life (work, transportation, involvement in political and economic activities) may disable and restrict people's activities more than do impairments and functional decline. It is therefore important, also from the disability prevention point of view, to promote a positive culture of ageing through education (not only for experts in the field of social and health care but also bringing in planners, architects, journalists, etc.). An increase in the flexibility of age of retirement, which would allow older people to voluntarily continue working after the official retirement age, is to be recommended as one means of maintaining and improving quality of life in older age groups.

#### **Implementing policies**

An important framework for analysis and action is the independent living movement, which underscores active participation, possibilities for choice, and prevention and minimization of the uncomfortable consequences associated with the onset of disability. This framework makes room for both healthy and disabled elderly people by appreciating the diversity and multifaceted nature of the processes of ageing and ageing experience. The BURDIS network want to emphasize the need for promoting education in gerontology, allocating funds to ageing research at both the international and national levels, and developing services to maintain and improve the quality of life among the unprecedented increase in the number of older people in the decades ahead.

**Education.** The promotion of training in gerontology and geriatric medicine is an important challenge and a necessary prerequisite for implementing effective services for older people. Only a very few European universities have a full Master's program in gerontology and, even then, not all the main fields are covered by these programmes. Gerontological education should be increased in the curricula of all the relevant professional groups, and opportunities for specialization in gerontology and geriatric medicine ought to be enhanced both in the individual EU member states and on the basis of international collaboration (e.g. Socrates programmes, European Master in

Gerontology programme). It is especially important that the professional groups working in primary health care are introduced to the essential issues of ageing and its outcomes with regard to the challenges they pose to the preservation and management of various disabilities. The WHO could play a role in hosting European groups to examine training in health and social care for older people with a view to producing model curricula for the health and social work professions.

Research. The conditions necessary for implementing research policies on ageing are somewhat limited by the current EU funding constraints. In the further development of the European Research Area ageing research should be ranked among the priority areas considered to have important implications regarding many aspects of social life across all the EU countries. Genetic epidemiological projects would be supportable, and in this connection it may be most expedient to "piggy-back" ageing projects on existing genetics projects. Other options that may be worth considering are applications for EU Marie-Curie funds to support some of the required activities through meetings and research fellowships. National research funders should also be approached to consider whether support should be given to country-level research initiatives on ageing that are relevant to future EU collaboration.

**Practice.** The impending changes in the population age structures of the European Union countries, sometimes known as "apocalyptic demography" will in turn require profound changes in the development of social practice and different kinds of services in order to maintain well-being and a satisfactory quality of life for all age groups. Some of the required actions could be developed by creating a special plan, an Age Policy, formulated and constructed on a national level on the basis of accumulating knowledge about the various challenges posed by population ageing and possibilities to counteract its negative consequences and promote positive ones. Such an Age Policy could then be used as a set of guidelines in developing strategic plans at the community level to improve social and health services for different age groups from a life-course perspective.

Also, non-governmental organisations concerned with ageing have a powerful role both in providing services and in lobbying governments to improve services. They

should be involved in the policies described here. Because independent living is not only doing things by oneself but also being in control of how things are done, the amount and quality of social support (services, networks, close friends, etc.) need to be emphasized in Age Policies.

Finally, the improvement of clinical practice in geriatric medicine may be facilitated in a number of ways. Professional organisations in each country could work together to produce evidence-based clinical guidelines in the same way as, for example, the European cardiology societies, which have produced guidelines on the prevention of coronary heart disease over the last decade, up-dated to take account of new knowledge as it arises.

## References

Allaire SH, LaValley MP, Evans SR, O'Connor GT, Kelly-Hayes M, Meenan RF, Levy D, Felson DT (1999). Evidence for decline in disability and improved health among persons aged 55 to 70 years: the Framingham heart study. *Am Public Health*: 89(11), 1678-83.

American Psychiatric Association (1987). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Psychiatric Disorders*. Third, revised ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

Anderson C, Ni Mhurchu C, Brown PM, Carter K (2002). Stroke rehabilitation services in accelerate hospital discharge and provide home-based care: an overview and cost analysis. *Pharmacoeconomics*: 20(8), 537-52.

Andres R, Elahi D, Tobin JD, Muller DC, Brant L (1985). Impact of age on weight goals. *Ann Intern Med*: 103(6 part 2), 1030-3.

Arber S, Ginn J (1993). Gender and inequalities in health in later life. Soc Sci Med: 36(1), 33-46.

Armour D, Cairns C (2002). Medicines in the elderly. Pharmaceutical Press: London.

Avlund K, Schultz-Larsen K, Davidsen M (1998). Tiredness in daily activities at age 70 as a predictor of mortality during the next 10 years. *J Clin Epidemiol*: 51(4), 323-33.

Avlund K, Damsgaard MT, Schroll M (2001). Tiredness as determinant of subsequent use of health and social services among nondisabled elderly people. *J Aging Health*: 13(2), 267-86.

Avlund K, Damsgaard MT, Sakari-Rantala R, Laukkanen P, Schroll M (2002). Tiredness in daily activities among non-disabled old people as determinant of onset of disability. *J Clin Epidemiol*: 55(10), 965-73.

Avlund K, Holstein BE, Osler M, Damsgaard MT, Holm-Pedersen P, Rasmussen NK (2003). Social position and health in old age: the relevance of different indicators of social position. *Scand J Public Health*: 31(2), 126-36.

Avlund K, Lund R, Holstein BE, Due P, Sakari-Rantala R, Heikkinen RL (2004). The impact of structural and functional characteristics of social relations as determinants of functional decline. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 59(1), S44-51.

Avlund K, Damsgaard, MT, Osler M. Impact of social position on functional decline and mortality among old men and women. *Eur J Public Health*. In press.

Bales CW, Ritchie CS (2002). Sarcopenia, weight loss, and nutritional frailty in the elderly. *Ann Rev Nutr*: 22, 309-23.

Balfour JL, Kaplan GA (2002). Neighborhood environment and loss of physical function in older adults: evidence from the Alameda County Study. *Am J Epidemiol*: 155(6), 507-15.

Blazer DG (2002). Self-efficacy and depression in late-life: a primary prevention proposal. *Aging Ment Health*: 6(4), 315-324.

Blazer DG (2003). Depression in late life: review and commentary. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 58(3), M249-65.

Blumenthal J, Babyak M, Moore K, Craighead W, Herman W, Khatri P, Waugh R, Napolitano M, Forman L, Applebaum M, Doraiswamy P, Krishnan K (1999). Effects of exercise training on older patients with major depression. *Arch Intern Med*: 159(19), 2349-56.

Campbell M, Fitzpatrick R, Haines A, Kinmonth AL, Sandercock P, Spiegelhalter D, Tyrer P (2000). Framework for design and evaluation of complex interventions to improve health. *BMJ*: 321(7262), 694-6.

Caplan LJ, Schooler C (2003). The roles of fatalism, self-confidence, and intellectual resources in the disablement process in older adults. *Psychol Aging*: 18(3), 551-61.

Carmelli D, Kelly-Hayes M, Wolf PA, Swan GE, Jack LM, Reed T, Guralnik JM (2000). The contribution of genetic influences to measures of lower-extremity function in older male twins. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 55(1), B49-53.

Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (1989). Guideline for the study of drugs likely to be used in the elderly. *Guidance for Industry*, Clinical / Medical: 44. Available online at: http://www.fda.gov/cder/guidance/index.htm.

Christensen K, McGue M, Yashin A, Iachine I, Holm NV, Vaupel JW (2000). Genetic and environmental influences on functional abilities in Danish twins aged 75 years and older. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 55(8), M446-52.

Crimmins EM, Saito Y, Reynolds SL (1997). Further evidence on recent trends in the prevalence and incidence of disability among older Americans from two sources: The LSOA and the NHIS. *J Gerontol Soc Sci*: 52(2), S59-71.

Di Bari M, Pahor M, Franse LV, Shorr RI, Wan JY, Ferrucci L, Somes GW, Applegate WB (2001). Dementia and disability outcomes in large hypertension trials: lessons learned from the systolic hypertension in the elderly program (SHEP) trial. *Am J Epidemiol*: 153(1), 72-8.

Duncan PW, Chandler J, Studensky S, Hughes M, Prescott B (1993). How do physiological components of balance affect mobility in elderly men? *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*: 74(12), 1343-9.

Ebrahim S (2002). Ageing, health and society. Int J Epidemiol: 31(4), 715-8.

Era P, Jokela J, Heikkinen E (1986). Reaction and movement times in men of differences ages: a population study. *Percept Mot Skills*: 63(1), 111-30.

Everard KM, Lach HW, Fisher EB, Baum MC (2000). Relationship of activity and social support to the functional health of older adults. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 55(4), S208-12.

Femia EE, Zarit SH, Johansson B (1997). Predicting change in activities of daily living: a longitudinal study of the oldest old in Sweden. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 52(6), P294-302.

Ferrucci L, Izmirlian G, Leveille S, Phillips CL, Corti MC, Brock DB, Guralnik JM (1999). Smoking, physical activity, and active life expectancy. *Am J Epidemiol*: 149(7), 645-53.

Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM, Stephanie S, Fried LP, Cutler GB, Walston JD (2004). Designing randomized controlled trials aimed at preventing or delaying functional decline and disability in frail, older persons: a consensus report. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* in Press.

Finkel D, Whitfield K, McGue M (1995). Genetic and environmental influences on functional age: a twin study. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 50(2), P104-13.

Finkel D, Pedersen NL, Reynolds CA, Berg S, DeFaire U, Svartengren M (2003). Genetic and environmental influences on decline in biobehavioral markers of aging. *Behav Genet* 33(2): 107-23. Fransen M, Anderson C, Chalmers J, Chapman N, Davis S, MacMahon S, Neal B, Sega R, Terent A, Tzourio C, Woodward M (2003). Effects of a perindopril-based blood pressure-lowering regimen on disability and dependency in 6105 patients with cerebrovascular disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Stroke*: 34(10), 2333-8.

Freedman VA, Martin LG, Schoeni RF (2002). Recent trends in disability and functioning among older adults in the United States: a systematic review. *JAMA*: 288(24), 3137-46.

Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, Seeman T, Tracy R, Kop WJ, Burke G, McBurnie MA (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 56(3), M146-56.

Gatz M, Kasl-Godley JE, Karel MJ (1996). Aging and Mental Disorders. In: Abeles RP, Gatz M, Salthouse TA (eds): *Handbook of the psychology of aging*. San Diego: Academic Press.

Gatz M, Pedersen NL, Berg S, Johansson B, Johansson K, Mortimer JA, Posner SF, Viitanen M, Winblad B, Ahlbom A (1997). Heritability for Alzheimer's disease: the study of dementia in Swedish twins. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 52(2), M117-25.

Gill TM, Baker DI, Gottschalk M, Peduzzi PN, Allore H, Byers A (2002). A program to prevent functional decline in physically frail, elderly persons who live at home. *N Engl J Med*: 347(14), 1068-74.

Gold CH, Malmberg B, McClearn GE, Pedersen NL, Berg S (2002). Gender and health: a study of older unlike-sex twins. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 57(3), S168-76.

Goldberg TH, Chavin SI (1997). Preventive medicine and screening older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 45(3), 344-54.

Griffin S (1998). Diabetes care in general practice: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*: 317(7155), 390-6.

Grimley Evans J (2000). Ageing and medicine. J Intern Med: 247(2), 159-67.

Grundy E, Glaser K (2000). Socio-demographic differences in the onset and progression of disability in early old age: a longitudinal study. *Age Ageing*: 29(2), 149-57.

Guralnik JM, Kaplan GA (1989). Predictors of healthy aging: prospective evidence from the Alameda County study. *Am J Public Health*: 79(6), 703-8.

Guralnik, JM, Land, KC, Blazer D, Fillenbaum GG, Branch LG (1993). Educational status and active life expectancy among older blacks and whites. *New England Journal of Medicine*: 329(2), 110-6.

Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Balfour JL, Volpato S, Di Iorio A (2001). Progressive versus catastrophic loss of the ability to walk: implications for the prevention of mobility loss. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 49(11), 1463-70.

Gurnack AM (1997). Older adult's misuse of alcohol, medicines, and other drugs. Springer Publishing Company: New York.

Hammond JM (1995). Multiple jeopardy or multiple resources? The intersection of age, race, living arrangement and education level and the health of older women. *J Women Aging*: 7(3), 5-24.

Handoll HH, Parker MJ, Sherrington C (2003). Mobilisation strategies after hip fracture surgery in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*: 2003(1), CD001704.

Harris T, Cook EF, Garrison R, Higgins M, Kannel W, Goldman L (1988). Body mass index and mortality in non-smoking older persons. The Framingham heart study. *JAMA*: 259(10), 1520-4.

Heikkinen E, Heikkinen R-L, Ruoppila I (Eds.) (1997). Functional capacity and health of elderly people – the Evergreen project. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, Supplement, 53.

Heikkinen RL, Berg S, Avlund K, Törmäkangas T (2002). Depressed mood: changes during a five-year follow-up in 75-year-old men and women in three Nordic localities. *Aging Clin Exp Res*: 14(3 Suppl), 16-28

Heikkinen E (2003). What are the main risk factors for disability in old age and how can disability be prevented? WHO regional office for Europe's health evidence network synthesis report. Available online at: http://www.euro.who.int/document/hen/disabilities0903.pdf.

Heikkinen RL, Kauppinen M (2004). Depressive symptoms in late life: a 10-year follow-up. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*: 38(3) [in press].

Hill RD (1989). Residual effects of cigarette smoking on cognitive performance in normal aging. *Psychol Aging*: 4, 251-4.

Hirvensalo M, Rantanen T, Heikkinen E (2000). Mobility difficulties and physical activity as predictors of mortality and loss of independence in the community-living older population. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 48(5), 493-8.

Holstein BE, Avlund K, Heikkinen R-L (1997). Home help and informal social support for elderly people in three Nordic localities. *Facts, Research and Intervention in Geriatrics*: 1997 (Supplementum), 41-54.

Hutchins LF, Unger JM, Crowley JJ, Coltman CA, Albain KS (1999). Underrepresentation of patients 65 years of age or older in cancer-treatment trials. *N Engl J Med*: 341(27), 2061-2067.

Hyyppä MT, Mäki J (2003). Social participation and health in a community rich in stock of social capital. *Health Educ Res*: 18(6), 770-9.

Iki M, Ishizaki H, Aalto H, Starck J, Pyykkö I (1994). Smoking habits and postural stability. *Am J Otolaryngol*: 15(2), 124-8.

International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (1993). Studies in support of special populations: geriatrics. *ICH harmonised tripartite guideline*, E7. Available online at: http://www.ich.org/MediaServer.jser?@ ID=483&@ MODE=GLB.

Jagger C, Spiers NA, Clarke M. (1993). Factors associated with decline in function, institutionalization and mortality of elderly people. *Age Ageing*: 22(3), 190-7.

Jette AM (2003). Assessing disability in studies of physical activity. Am J Prev Med: 25(3 suppl 2), 122-8.

Johnson J, Weissman MM, Klerman GL (1992). Service utilization and social morbidity associated with depressive symptoms in the community. *JAMA*: 267(11), 1478-83.

Joliffe JA, Rees K, Taylor RS, Thompson D, Oldridge N, Ebrahim S (2002). Exercise-based rehabilitation for coronary heart disease (Cochrane review). I: *Cochrane Library*: 4. Oxford: Update Software.

Jonsson A, Gustafson Y, Schroll M, Hansen FR, Saarela M, Nygaard H, Laake K, Jonsson PV, Valvanne J, Dehlin O (2003). Geriatric rehabilitation as an integral part of geriatric medicine in the Nordic countries. *Dan Med Bull*: 50(4), 439-45.

Judd LL, Paulus MP, Wells KB, Rapaport MH (1996). Socioeconomic burden of subsyndromal depressive symptoms and major depression in a sample of the general population. *Am J Psychiatry*: 153(11), 1411-7.

King A, Rejeski WJ, Buchner DM (1998). Physical activity intervention targeting older adults: a critical review and review recommendations. *Am J Prev Med*: 15(4), 316-33.

Koukouli S, Vlachonikolis IG, Philalithis A (2002). Socio-demographic factors and self-reported functional status: the significance of social support. *BMC Health Serv Res*: 2(1), 20.

LaCroix AZ, Guralnik JM, Berkman LF, Wallace RB, Satterfield S (1993). Maintaining mobility in late life. II. Smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity and body mass index. *Am J Epidemiol*: 137(8), 858-69.

Laukkanen P, Heikkinen E, Kauppinen M, Kallinen M (1992). Use of drugs by non-institutionalized urban Finns born in 1904-1923 and the association of drug use with mood and self-rated health. *Age Ageing*: 21(5), 343-52.

Laukkanen P, Kauppinen M, Era P, Heikkinen E (1993). Factors related to coping with physical and instrumental activities of daily living among people born in 1904-1923. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 8: 287-296.

Laukkanen P, Leskinen E, Kauppinen M, Sakari-Rantala R, Heikkinen E (2000). Health and functional capacity as predictors of community dwelling among elderly people. *J Clin Epidemiol*: 53(3), 257-65.

Lawrence RH, Jette AM (1996). Disentangling the disablement process. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 51(4), S173-82.

Lee PY, Alexander KP, Hammill BG, Pasquali SK, Peterson ED (2001). Representation of elderly persons and women in published randomized trials of acute coronary syndromes. *J Am Med Assoc*: 286(6), 708-713.

Leveille SG, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Langlois JA (1999). Aging successfully until death in old age: opportunities for increasing active life expectancy. *Am J Public Epidemiol*: 149(7), 654-64.

Leveille SG, Resnick HE, Balfour J (2000). Gender differences in disability: evidence and underlying reasons. *Aging*: 12(2), 106-12.

Linden M, Horgas AL, Gilberg R, Steinhagen-Thiessen E (1997). Predicting health care utilization in the very old. The role of physical health, mental health, attitudinal and social factors. *J Aging Health*: 9(1), 3-27.

Lloyd-Williams F, Mair FS, Leitner M (2002). Exercise training and heart failure: a systematic review of current evidence. *Br J Gen Pract*: 52(474), 47-55.

Lorig KR, Sobel DS, Stewart AL, Brown BW Jr, Bandura A, Ritter P, Gonzalez VM, Laurent DD, Holman HR (1999). Evidence suggesting that chronic disease self-management program can improve health status while reducing hospitalization: a randomized trial. *Med Care*: 37(1), 5-14.

Lynch J, Kaplan G (2000). Socioeconomic position. In: Berkman LF, Kawachi I (eds). *Social epidemiology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 13-35.

Mackenbach JP, Borsboom GJJM, Nusselder WJ, Looman CWN, Schrijvers CTM (2001). Determinants of levels and changes of physical functioning in chronically ill persons: results from the GLOBE study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*: 55(9), 631-8.

Malmberg JJ, Miilunpalo SI, Vuori IM, Pasanen ME, Oja P, Haapanen-Niemi NA (2002). Improved

functional status in 16 years of follow up of middle aged and elderly men and women in north eastern Finland. *J Epidemiol Community Health*: 56(12), 905-12.

Manton KG, Corder LS, Stallard E (1993). Estimates of change in chronic disability and institutional incidence and prevalence rates in the U.S. elderly population from the 1982, 1984, and 1989 National Long Term Care Survey. *J Gerontol Soc Sci*: 48(4), S153-66.

McCormack R (2002). Prevention of disability in daily activities in older persons with knee osteoarthritis. *Clin J Sport Med*: 12(6), 405.

Mehr DR, Tatum PE (2002). Primary prevention of diseases of old age. Clin Geriatr Med: 18(3), 407-30.

Mellors V, Boyle G J, Roberts L (1994). Effects of personality, stress and lifestyle on hypertension: an Australian twin study. *Personality and individual differences*: 16(6), 967-74.

Melzer D, McWilliams B, Brayne C, Johnson T, Bond J. (2000). Socioeconomic status and the expectation of disability in old age: estimates for England. *J Epidemiol Community Health*: 54(4), 286-92.

Melzer D, Izmirlian G, Leveille SG, Guralnik, JM (2001). Educational differences in the prevalence of mobility disability in old age: the dynamics of incidence, mortality and recovery. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 56(5), S294-301.

Mendes de Leon CF, Glass TA, Beckett LA, Seeman TE, Evans DA, Berkman LF (1999). Social networks and disability transitions across eight intervals of yearly data in the New Haven EPESE. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*: 54(3), S162-72.

Michael YL, Colditz GA, Coakley E, Kawachi I (1999). Health behaviours, social networks, and healthy aging: cross-sectional evidence from the Nurses' Health Study. *Qual Life Res*: 8(8), 711-22.

Milne AC, Potter J, Avenell A (2002). Protein and energy supplementation in elderly people at risk from malnutrition. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*: 2002(3), CD003288.

Moen P (1996). Gender, age and the life course. In: Binstock RH, George LK (eds). *Handbook of aging and the social sciences*. 4th ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Nagi SZ (1976). An epidemiology of disability among adults in the United States. *Milbank Mem Fund Q Health Soc*: 54(4), 439-67.

Nagi SZ (1991). Disability concepts revisited: implications for prevention. In: Pope AM, Tarlov AR. (Eds.). *Disability in America: toward a national agenda for prevention*. Washington DC: National Academy Press, 309-27.

Nelson HD, Nevitt MC, Scott JC, Stone KL, Cummins SR (1994). Smoking, alcohol, and neuromuscular and physical function of older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. *JAMA*: 272(23), 1825-31.

Nilsson SE, Johansson B, Berg S, Karlsson D, McClearn GE (2002). A comparison of diagnosis capture from medical records, self-reports, and drug registrations: a study in individuals 80 years and older. *Aging Clin Exp Res*: 14(3), 178-84.

Pajala S, Era P, Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J, Tolvanen A, Heikkinen E, Tiainen K, Rantanen T (2004). Contribution of genetic and environmental effects to postural balance in older female twins. *J Appl Physiol*: 96(1), 308-15.

Parker MG, Thorslund M, Lundberg O (1994). Physical function and social class among Swedish oldest old. *J Gerontol*: 49(4), S106-201.

Pedersen NL, Gatz M, Berg S, Johansson B (2004). How heritable is Alzheimer's disease late in life? Findings from Swedish twins. *Ann Neurol*: 55(2), 180-5.

Penninx BW, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Deeg DJ, Wallace RB (1998). Depressive symptoms and physical decline in community-dwelling older persons. *JAMA*: 279(21), 1720-6.

Penninx BW, Guralnik JM, Bandeen-Roche K, Kasper JD, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Fried LP (2000). The protective effect of emotional vitality on adverse health outcomes in disabled older women. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 48(11), 1359-66.

Penninx BW, Messier SP, Rejeski WJ, Williamson JD, DiBari M, Cavazzini C, Applegate WB, Pahor M (2001). Physical exercise and the prevention of disability in activities of daily living in older persons with osteoarthritis. *Arch Intern Med*: 161(19), 2309-16.

Potter JF, Schafer DF, Bohi RL (1988). In-hospital mortality as a function of body mass index: an age-dependent variable. *J Gerontol*: 43(3), M59-63.

Rahkonen O, Takala P (1998). Social class differences in health and functional disability among older men and women. The afflictions of class inequality: the case of Finland. *Int J Health Serv*: 28(3), 511-24.

Rantanen T, Avela J (1997). Leg extension power and walking speed in very old people living independently. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 52(4), M225-31.

Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Leveille S, Fried LP (1999a). Coimpairments: strength and balance as predictors of severe walking disability. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*: 54(4), M172-6.

Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Foley D, Masaki K, Leveille S, Curb JD, White L. (1999b). Midlife hand grip strength as a predictor of old age disability. *JAMA*: 281(6), 558-60.

Rautio N, Heikkinen E, Heikkinen R-L (2001). The association of socio-economic position with physical and mental capacity in elderly men and women. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*: 33, 163-78.

Rice DP, LaPlante MP (1992). Medical expenditures for disability and disabling comorbidity. *Am J Public Health*: 82(5), 739-41.

Robert S, House JS (1996). SES differentials in health by age and alternative indicators of SES. *J Aging Health*: 8(3), 359-88.

Rochon PA, Berger PB, Gordon M (1998). The evolution of clinical trials: inclusion and representation. *Can Med Assoc J*:159(11), 1373-1374.

Rybarczyk B, DeMarco G, DeLaCruz M, Lapidos S (1999). Comparing mind-body wellness interventions for older adults with chronic illness: classroom versus home instruction. *Behav Med*: 24(4), 181-90.

Sadena MR, Glass PS (2003) Pharmacokinetics in the elderly. Best practice & research clinical anaesthesiology 17: 191-205.

Sahyoun NR (2002). Nutrition education for the healthy elderly population: isn't it time? *J Nutr Educ Behav*: 34(Suppl 1), S42-7.

Salive ME, Guralnik JM (1997). Disability outcomes of chronic disease and their implications for public health. In: *Public health and aging*. T. Hickey, MA Speers and TR Prohaska (Eds.). The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London, pp.87-106.

Schaie, KW (1990). The optimization of cognitive functioning in old age: predictions based on cohort-

sequential and longitudinal data. In Baltes P & Baltes M M (Eds): Successful Aging: Perspective from Behavioral Sciences, New York: Cambridge University Press.

Schroll M (1989). Cooperation between hospital-based and community-based geriatric assessment. Roskilde, Denmark. *Dan Med Bull. Gerontology. Special Supplement Series*: 7, 49-52.

Seeman TE, Crimmins E (2001). Social environmental effects on health and aging: integrating epidemiologic and demographic approaches and perspectives. *Ann N Y Acad Sc*: 954, 88-117.

Shumway-Cook A, Patla A, Stewart A, Ferrucci L, Ciol MA, Guralnik JM (2003). Environmental components of mobility disability in community-living older persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 51(3), 393-8.

Sing-Manoux A, Clarke P, Marmot M (2002). Multiple measures of socio-economic position and psychosocial health: proximal and distal measures. *Int J Epidemiol*: 31(6), 1199-200.

Sletvold O, Tilvis R, Jonsson A, Schroll M, Snædal J, Engedal K, Schultz-Larsen K, Gustafson Y (1996). Geriatric work-up in the Nordic countries. The Nordic approach to comprehensive geriatric assessment. *Dan Med Bull*: 43(4), 350-9.

Smits CHM, Deeg DJH, Jonker C (1997). Cognitive and emotional predictors of disablement in older adults. *J Aging Health*: 9(2), 204-21.

Socialstyrelsen (2000). Bo hemma på äldre da'r. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen, Äldreuppdraget 2000: 11.

Socialstyrelsen (2001). Folkhälsorapport 2001. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen.

Socialstyrelsen (2004). Äldres levnadsförhållanden 1988/89 – 2002, med särskilt avseende på hälsa, funktionsförmåga och vård/omsorgsmönster. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen [in press].

Sonn U, Grimby G, Svanborg A (1996). Activities of daily living studied longitudinally between 70 and 76 years of age. *Disabil Rehabil*: 18(2), 91-100.

Stewart AL, Mills KM, Sepsis PG, King AC, McLellan BY, Roitz K, Ritter PL (1997). Evaluation of CHAMPS, a physical activity promotion program for older adults. *Ann Behav Med*: 19(4), 353-61.

Stini WA (1991). Body composition and longevity. Is there or a longevous morphotype? *Med Anthropol*: 13(3), 215-29.

Stuck AE, Walthert JM, Nikolaus T, Bula CJ, Hohmann C, Beck JC (1999). Risk factors for functional status decline in community-living elderly people: a systematic literature review. *Soc Sci Med*: 48(4), 445-69

Stuck AE, Minder CE, Peter-Wuest I, Gillmann G, Egli C, Kesselring A, Leu RE, Beck JC (2000). A randomized trial of in-home visits for disability prevention in community-dwelling older people at low and high risk for nursing home admission. *Arch Intern Med*: 160(7), 977-86.

Stuck AE, Egger M, Hammer A, Minder CE, BeckJC (2002). Home visits to prevent nursing home admission and functional decline in elderly people: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *JAMA*: 287(8), 1022-8.

Sulander TT, Rahkonen OJ, Uutela AK (2003). Functional ability in the elderly Finnish population: time period differences and associations, 1985-99. *Scand J Public Health*: 31(2), 100-6.

Tiainen K, Sipilä S, Alen M, Heikkinen E, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Tolvanen A, Pajala S, Rantanen T (2004). Heritability of maximal isometric muscle strength in older female twins. *J Appl Physiol*: 96(1), 173-80.

Tinetti ME, Inouye SK, Gill TM Doucette JT (1995). Shared risk factors for falls, incontinence, and functional dependence. *JAMA*: 273(17), 1348-53.

Tsuji I, Kuwahara A, Nishino Y, Ohkuboto T, Sasaki A, Hisamichi S (1999). Medical cost for disability: a longitudinal observation of national health insurance beneficiaries in Japan. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 47(4), 470-6

Vågerö D (1997). De socialt gynnades hälsoläge – en måttstock för vad som är möjligt. In: Steineck, G (ed). *Längre liv och bättre hälsa – en rapport om prevention*. Stockholm: Folkhäsoinstitutet in cooperation with SBU.

Verbrugge LM, Jette AM (1994). The disablement process. Soc Sci Med: 38(1), 1-14.

Vita AJ, Terry RB, Hubert HB, Fries JF (1998). Aging, health risks, and cumulative disability. *N Engl J Med*: 338(15), 1036-41.

Wells KB, Stewart A, Hays RD, Burnam MA, Rogers W, Daniels M, Berry S, Greenfield S, Ware J (1989). The functioning and well-being of depressed patients. Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. *JAMA*: 262(7), 914-9.

West SK, Rubin GS, Broman AT, Munoz B, Bandeen-Roche K, Tura, K (2002). How does visual impairment affect performance on task of everyday life? The SEE Project. Salisbury Eye Examination. *Arch Ophthalmol* 120(6), 774-80.

Willet WC (1997). Weight loss in the elderly: cause or effect of poor health? Am J Clin Nutr: 66, 737-38.

Willet WC, Dietz WH, Colditz GA (1999). Guidelines for healthy weight. N Engl J Med: 341, 427-34.

Winblad I, Jääskeläinen M, Kivelä S-L, Hiltunen P, Laippala P (2001). Prevalence of disability in three birth cohorts at old age over time spans of 10 and 20 years. *J Clin Epidemiol*: 54(10), 1019-24.

Wolinsky FD, Culler SD, Callahan CM, Johnson RJ (1994). Hospital resource consumption among older adults: a prospective analysis of episodes, length of stay, and charges over a seven-year period. *J Gerontol Soc Sci*: 49(5), S240-52.

Woo J, Ho SC, Yu AL (1999). Walking speed and stride length predicts 36 months dependency, mortality, and institutionalization in Chinese aged 70 and older. *J Am Geriatr Soc*: 47(10), 1257-60.

World Health Organization (2001). *ICF International classification of functioning, disability and health*. Geneva: World Health Organization. Template available online at: http://www.who.int/classification/icf.